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The Spectrum Analyzer 
Project

In the late fall of  1959, after a week’s 
vacation, I joined a Hewlett Packard project 
team that was working on the company’s first 
venture into spectrum analysis. At Utah State, 
I had taken classes on electromagnetic theory, 
microwave devices, antennas, guided waves 
and transmission lines. I had also worked 
the Christmas holidays before on a project 
to measure the spectral characteristics of  
ionized patches in the upper air layers of  the 
atmosphere. 

I was excited to learn that the HP 
Microwave Lab was undertaking a project 
to design a Microwave Spectrum Analyzer. 
I was even more excited when the project 
manager, Art Fong, asked me to join the team. 
I promptly signed up and took all of  the plans 
home to study and get up to speed on the 
project. I was assigned the microwave portion, 
probably based on my college emphasis. As 
the newest engineer on the project, I just 
focused on getting my part done and didn’t try 
to add much to the other parts of  the system. 

I continued in that mode for my first year on 
the project.

In the fall of  1960 I was approved by 
Hewlett Packard Management and Stanford 
University to enroll in the College of  
Engineering to pursue a Master’s Degree in 
Electrical Engineering. I took two classes each 
quarter and finished the program in 1963. 
I was given time off to take classes but was 
expected to keep my part of  the project on 
schedule, which I did. I took a broad range 
of  classes primarily in communications and 
information theory. I enjoyed it very much 
and did quite well.

In 1961 and extending into 1962, I started 
taking a much more expansive view of  my 
engineering responsibilities. Fortunately, my 
supervisor, Art Fong, was very encouraging of  
the engineers working for him to extend their 
thinking. Art was one of  only two Chinese 
American Engineers at Hewlett Packard. 
He had graduated in Engineering from the 
University of  California at Berkeley and then 
joined the Research Lab at MIT where much 
of  the early work developing radar was done 
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during World War ll. Art was the natural choice 
to manage the spectrum analyzer project and 
most of  the early design ideas were his and 
were very good.

After I had worked on the basic components 
for a little over a year, I saw a way to greatly 
increase the range of  frequencies that the 
analyzer could present in a single display and 
to also greatly improve the speed with which 
a very large range of  frequencies could be 
searched and analyzed. When I first presented 
my ideas to Art he said, “It sounds too good to 
be true.” He then had me present it to the rest 
of  the team and later to his manager. All were 
excited and said, “Let’s go for it!” The project 
team worked hard to effect the necessary 
changes. The schedules were adjusted and the 
Hewlett Packard Spectrum Analyzer was on 
its way.

At that time Art added the system 
integration, performance testing and 
presentation analysis to my responsibilities. 
After a few months of  hard work, the HP 

851A/8551A Spectrum Analyzer was 
operational and ready for a limited showing in 
the spring of  1963. The special invited guests 
generally agreed that if  we could meet the 
target specifications in production and make 
the whole instrument reliable that it would sell 
very well.

In the fall of  1963 we started showing 
it to a few potential customers. One of  
the first was the Army Fort Huachuca in 
Southern Arizona. Fort Huachuca was 
responsible for a great deal of  Army research 
in communications, networking, radar and 
electronic countermeasures. Art Fong, a 
gentleman named Lyle Jevons and I made the 
trip. I presented the HP Spectrum Analyzer 
to a group of  their technical people and 
demonstrated how it might help them better 
understand their research and design issues. 
After the presentation they asked how soon 
they could get one. Shortly thereafter we 
completed a pilot production run and began 
taking orders. I trained Lyle Jevons on the fine 

The Spectum Analyzer Team
Standing left to right: Ed Phillips, Jerry Boortz, Ed Hurd, Bill Hanish, Rich Bauhause, 

Richard Anderson, Dave Veteran, John Cardin, Roger Rauskolb, MacMcGrath, Ron Given
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points of  spectral analysis and he took one on 
a world introductory tour. Lyle traveled with it 
across the US and then to Europe over some 
six months. We could always tell where Lyle 
was by where orders were coming in from. The 
HP 851/8551A made a spectrum analyzer a 
‘must have’ in every microwave and wireless 
engineering laboratory. HP quickly took about 
90% of  the market. It turned out to be HP’s 
biggest revenue generator up to that point 
in time. I was also granted three key patents 
that helped HP retain a secure competitive 
position. A few of  these 
original products are still 
in use after over 50 years 
since introduction. You 
might even be able to buy 
one on Ebay.

Looking for a 
New Challenge 

With my first 
engineering project behind 
me and completion of  my 
master’s degree I was at a 
decision point. My advisor 

at Stanford told me I would be welcome to 
enter the Stanford PhD program. Since my 
work on the Spectrum Analyzer was over, 
the Lab Manager, Howard Poulter, assigned 
me to some research projects. One was joint 
with a part of  HP called HP Associates (HPA) 
that was chartered to develop specialized 
semiconductor devices. In 1962 a British 
Physicist named Ian Gunn working at IBM’s 
Watson Lab discovered that applying a 
sufficiently high voltage to a semiconductor 
diode could cause the diode to emit radiation 
in the microwave frequency range. Diodes 
constructed for this purpose were called Gunn 
Diodes and the oscillatory radiation was called 
the Gunn effect. 

After Gunn reported his work, engineers 
at HPA were able to duplicate the Gunn effect 
and construct some experimental diodes. 
The problem was keeping the diodes from 
destructive burning under such high impinged 
voltage. I obtained some sample diodes and 
mounted them on coin silver posts in a coaxial 
structure. I was able to sustain oscillations 
continuously and may have been the first 
person to do so. The HPA lab director that I 
worked with was Mohamed M. Atalla, known 
as Martin or John Atalla. He had worked at 
Bell Labs where he co-invented MOSFETS. 
It was a fun assignment for me but we didn’t 
think Gunn Diodes were ready for prime time 

The HP 851A/8551A Spectrum Analyzer

The Automatic Network Analyzer



so I left the project to pursue other ideas.
It turns out that there were also some 

interesting new challenges to tackle in 
microwave and wireless engineering. I had 
some ideas that I developed in my spectrum 
analyzer work that could be coupled with 

developments at HPA 
and usefully applied 
in other areas. I 
collaborated with Paul 
Ely, who managed one 
section of  our laboratory, 
on a technology 
investigation. Together 
we defined a preliminary 
block diagram for a 
wide band microwave 
network analyzer. 
Shortly after, Paul was 
appointed Microwave 
Division Engineering 
Manager replacing 
Howard Poulter. After a 
little courtship period, I 
decided not to return to 

Stanford and was asked, by Paul, to assemble 
the needed talent for a lab section to develop 
a microwave network analyzer. I was just 27 
at the time and I think that made me the 
youngest engineering section manager in HP. 
That would have been in 1964, as I recall.

Engineering Management 
and Network Analyzers

Managing the Network Analyzer Section 
was really exciting for me. I had assembled a 
very talented, hard working team. I was also 
very much at home with the technologies 
and the intended applications that we were 
designing. I was given a free hand by division 
management to set the business strategy, 
define the products and guide the projects to 
completion. We were breaking new ground and 
were convinced that our solutions for network 
analysis and design would revolutionize the 
microwave and wireless industries. Hopefully 
just as much so as the HP Spectrum Analyzer 
had done. The big day came in late 1966 
when the HP 8410A system was introduced 
in the marketplace. Over the Christmas 
holidays in 1966, I wrote a major technical 

The HP 8542A Automatic Network Analyzer 
Hewlett Packard Journal, February 1970, page 3 

Courtesy of  the Hewlett Packard Company
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paper on designing high frequency circuits 
using Scattering Parameters (S Parameters) 
which the Network Analyzer measured. The 
Network Analyzer and the S Parameter paper 
were both very popular and it was clear HP 
had another big winner in the Microwave 
and Wireless Space. The Microwave Division 
experienced another burst of  strong growth. 
Because of  the strength of  the Spectrum and 
Network Analyzer program it was by far the 
largest division in the company. John Young 
was promoted from Microwave Division 
Manager to head a group of  divisions under 
the title of  Electronic Products Group. He 
was also elected to Vice President of  Hewlett 
Packard Inc. In 1977 he would be elected 
President and CEO.

The Network Analyzer, like the Spectrum 
Analyzer, turned out to be an unqualified 
success. A highlight for me was traveling to 
Europe in the summer of  1967 to introduce 

the Network Analyzer there and train the sales 
people on the product. Moonyeen traveled 
with me. I did training in Edinburgh, Brussels, 
Frankfurt and Geneva. We also visited 
Southern Germany, Paris, Copenhagen, 
Ireland and Bergen, Norway. 

In Bergen we visited my grandmother’s 
youngest sister Solveig. She showed us where 
my grandmother had been born and took us 
to church in the Bergen Ward. While we were 
in Brussels an enormous fire broke out in a 
large department store called L’innovation. It 
was across the street from the Metropole Hotel 
where we were staying. I was conducting a 
training session when someone looked out 
the window and exclaimed, “Oh my God!” 
The department store was about five floors of  
mezzanines and every floor was fully engulfed. 
I was gripped with fear because Moonyeen 
had planned to go shopping there that day. I 
hurried and called our room. I was relieved to 
hear her voice. Fortunately, we had been out 
late the night before and she had gone back to 
the room after breakfast for a nap which lasted 
until my call. When we were in Copenhagen, 
war broke out in the Middle East between 
Israel and some of  the Arab States. 

While we were in Europe, we left our four 
children with my parents. Debbie and Mike 
attended a couple of  weeks at the Central 
School where I had received my first four 
years of  elementary education.

As we were wrapping up work on the 
8410A project I was surprised one day to get 
a call from David Packard, the Chairman and 
Co-founder of  HP. At the time, HP was just 
completing the design of  a digital computer, 
modeled the HP 2116A, in another division. 
He said, “Dick, I am going to send you a pilot 
production unit. I would like you to see what 
you can do with it.”

I had only taken one three-hour college 
course on computers so it was all pretty new 
to me. But it started me thinking about how 
a computer like the 2116A might be coupled Richard with three of  the Division Engineering Team.
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to an instrument like an 8410A to accomplish 
some really outstanding things. So I added one 
of  my group of  engineers, an engineer named 
Roger Raskolb, to my new little project and 
we let our imaginations run wild. We shared 
our ideas with others in the microwave lab 
including the lab manager, Paul Ely, who 
encouraged us to start a full project and he 
allocated us resources to make things happen. 
After a few days we had assembled enough 
pieces to start designing the software. Roger 
was pretty good at programming and I worked 
hard defining the procedures for calibration, 
measurement and analysis. Within a couple of  
months we had a very impressive set of  results. 
With the computer tie in we could improve 

the accuracy of  our measurements by as 
much as 100 times. We did this by measuring 
the repetitive system errors using very precise 
calibration standards, storing these in the 
computer’s memory and then correcting 
for them in the data of  the measurements 
of  interest. The improvements and added 
capabilities were nothing short of  spectacular. 
Needless to say, Dave Packard was very pleased 
and he quickly started bringing his industry 
friends over to see what we were doing. We 
defined a set of  systems that we numbered 
and HP 854X Automatic Network Analyzers 
and HP had another set of  capabilities in the 
rapidly expanding Microwave and Wireless 
Space.

Richard with Ed Hayes and Dave Packard at a Division Review, crica 1980.
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In 1968 I started to hear that I was being 
considered for the next level of  responsibility, 
somewhere within the company. Some 
prospects were in the Bay Area where we lived, 
and others would require a move. Then one day 
I got a call from one Alan S. Bagley. He was in 
charge of  a division called F&T for Frequency 
and Time. Al had led HP into its earliest work 
with digital technology, developing a line of  
frequency counters and precision clocks. 
Al was then both Division Manager and 
Engineering Manager. As might be expected 
that wasn’t going too well. The division was a 
hodgepodge of  projects, morale was low, and 
a lot of  good talent was leaving. During the 
call, Al asked me if  I would meet with him in 
his car to discuss his organization. I agreed to 
do so and we started a series of  clandestine 
car rides for his purpose of  interviewing me 
for the job of  F&T Engineering Manager. He 
was nervous to give up the duties himself  and 
he didn’t want any of  his division people to 
know he was talking to a ‘Microwave Guy’ as 
there was some division rivalry there.

I think he liked my leadership and technical 

skills but I also think he had some fear that at 
31, I was too young to manage the F&T lab. 
Almost everyone there was older than me. I 
also think he was a little worried that I might 
try to get his job. After all, the former manager 
of  the Microwave Division, John Young, was 
now his supervisor. I had no such interest. In 
1969 we finally came to an agreement and I 
was appointed Engineering Manager of  the 
Frequency and Time Division of  Hewlett 
Packard. I believe that made me the youngest 
Engineering Manager in the Company.

Since almost all of  the people in the lab 
were new to me, I made a Herculean effort to 
know all of  their names. They were impressed 
by that and I think most of  the engineers 
really appreciated having someone in that job. 
I worked hard on two fronts: 1) Get a good 
idea of  which individuals I could count on to 
produce, and 2) Evaluate how each project 
could fit into a workable strategy. Over the 
next few months I trimmed the Engineering 
headcount by about one third by removing 
the out of  date, the lower skilled and the 
low enthusiasm engineers and managers. I 

Counters to Computers
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also initiated an aggressive college recruiting 
program to add young, up-to-date engineers 
who hadn’t learned that ‘it can’t be done’. 
I also pruned the project list to a workable 
number that fit some semblance of  a business 
strategy and then staffed them to get the job 
done.

It is fortunate that I did this trimming when 
I did. In 1969 Richard Nixon became the US 
President. The Vietnam war finally came to a 
close and tensions eased a bit. With the close 
of  the Vietnam period came big reductions 
in defense spending. Defense spending was 
a very big driver in the instrument business 
and we really felt it at HP. To make it even 
more difficult, Dave Packard joined the Nixon 
Administration as Undersecretary of  Defense 
in charge of  procurement. Dave was a wealthy 
man that had no interest in running for office 
and, believe me, he knew how to cut spending. 
By early 1970 the country was in a recession 
that hit technology particularly hard. By 
then, we had moved the F&T Division from 
Palo Alto to a new facility on Stevens Creek 
Blvd. in Santa Clara. That was very positive 
for division morale. The bulk of  the division 
business was frequency counters and the 
business was becoming very competitive. 

We focused our efforts on two new families 
of  very competitive, solid state frequency 
counters, digital signal processing with special 
computing algorithms (Fast Fourier Analyzer 
and Signal Averager) and digital circuit test. 
We got several solid new products to market 
which helped us weather the recession and 
set good growth opportunities for the future. 
Many of  our designs incorporated custom 
integrated circuits. The Santa Clara Division 
included a complete integrated circuit facility 
with both bipolar and MOSFET capability. 
While I never designed an IC myself, many 
were designed by engineers who worked for 
me and I learned from them.

 
In 1970 we ran into a big family issue that 

was starting to overwhelm us. It is very hard 
to fit a family of  two parents, three daughters 
and a son into a three bedroom, one bathroom 
home. We had been looking for a larger 
home in the immediate area but nothing had 
clicked. But early that spring the opportunity 
arrived. There was a very nice, large, Spanish 
style home on our same street about 300 
yards from our home. We knew the family 
that lived there and we had told them how 
much we admired their home. It was an older 

home with two large bedrooms, 
two smaller bedrooms, three 
bathrooms, a large living 
room, a family room, a room 
we called the garden room, a 
partial basement, a small den 
and a dining room. It sat on a 
very nice half  acre lot with an 
old two car garage behind. The 
owner called us one evening to 
tell us that he had accepted a job 
offer from the French Company, 
Schlumberger, and they would 
be moving to Paris. Would we 
like to buy their home? We 
shook hands after a house tour 
at a negotiated price of  $65,000. 

Our second Los Altos home, as it looked about 20 years after 
we moved. Image from Google Maps. 



It was a little scary with the recession but 
we moved in as soon as we could and put 
our present home up for sale. The recession 
of  1970 hit really hard so that we had to 
take every other Friday off without pay. The 
squeeze was on and it hurt. The hit movie that 
year was Butch Cassidy and the Sundance 
Kid. The movie theme song ‘Raindrops Keep 
Falling on My Head’ seemed very fitting. The 
home could sell today (2020) for as much as 
$5,000,000.00.

I enjoyed my time as Engineering Manager 
of  the renamed Santa Clara Division but my 
time there was coming to an end. A new division 
had been organized as part of  the Electronic 
Products Group reporting to John Young. 
It was called the Automatic Measurements 
Division or AMD. It was composed of  parts 
of  a couple of  organizations interested in the 
‘Systems Business’. Several HP Managers had 
been tried in the leadership spot but none 
worked out very well. So comes a call from 
John Young: “Dick, how would you like to take 
the job of  General Manager of  the Automatic 
Measurements Division? I think you can do 
the job.” 

This was a harder decision than my last 
move. I wanted to talk it over with Moonyeen 
before I gave my answer. The managers 
that preceded me had crashed and burned. 
The risk was higher and there wasn’t a high 
technology component that I could build on. 
But with Moonyeen’s blessing, I accepted the 
position of  Division General Manager of  
the Automatic Measurements Division. At 
34, I think I was now the youngest Division 
Manager at Hewlett-Packard.

 
Bagley and Ely Compared

As I look back, I might have been the 
only person to work directly for both Paul Ely 
and Al Bagley. In retrospect, they were likely 
the two most obstreperous individuals in the 
company. Maybe the only other person to 
face dealing with those two was John Young. I 

will let John speak for himself, but as for me, I 
loved them both.

 
Instrument-based computer 
systems or computer-based 
instrument systems?

The Automatic Measurements Division 
already had established businesses. The first 
and oldest was Data Acquisition and Control. 
This was now mainly computer based systems 
with instrument front ends. The division had 
developed a computer operating system called 
RTE (Real Time Executive) to bring these 
two technologies together. The customers 
for real time systems like this were largely in 
manufacturing and mineral extraction. Such 
applications as oil well monitoring, engine 
testing and material stress testing were typical. 
The other business was Automatic Test based 
on computers and instruments combined 
to test complex electronic systems typical in 
military systems. Examples would include 
sophisticated aircraft, guided missiles and 

Presentation to HP engineering managers. 1973.
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target-seeking torpedos. Another operating 
system called TODS (Test Oriented Disc 
System) had been developed for this side of  
the division. It was a tough management 
challenge to hold these pieces together and 
succeed in very different markets while 
supporting two separate sets of  operating 
software. To make the job even tougher, the 
organization was spread over several small 
buildings in two different locations in Palo 
Alto. AMD employed about 1200 people.

After a few months a building became 
available in Sunnyvale, California about 15 
miles south of  Palo Alto. The building was 
large enough to bring the entire division 
together under one roof. It belonged to 
Fairchild Semiconductor, but they had closed 
their operations there so the building was 
empty. After a short visit Bill Hewlett agreed 
to have HP buy the building. We prepared 
the building for our use and moved the entire 
division there a few weeks later. In 1971 Dave 

Packard returned to HP and resumed his role 
as Chairman of  the Board. He visited our 
division and took a big interest in what we 
were doing.

Over the next couple of  years I had a lot 
of  contact with Dave as he seemed to enjoy 
helping us sell our systems. He would call me 
and say, “I am going to visit my friend, the 
Chairman of  XXX Company. Can you come 
with me and explain what you are doing in 
your shop?” I would go and it allowed me 
the opportunity to meet a lot of  interesting 
people. He would run the meeting but would 
call on me to present our product and service 
offering. Among many others I presented 
to the top management teams at Firestone 
Tire, McDonnell Douglas and Boeing. We 
happened to be at McDonnell Douglas to see 
the first assembled F15 Eagle Air Superiority 
Fighter. While we were there Dave received 
a call from Secretary of  Defense, Melvin 
Laird. Secretary Laird told Mr Packard 
that the US had just signed the Strategic 
Arms Limitation Treaty (SALT) with the 
Soviet Union. I learned the news before the 
press did. Packard also hosted the Chief  of  
Naval Operations, Elmo (Bud) Zumwalt, at 
the company. Dave asked me to give him 
a tour of  our operations before they went 
hunting on Dave’s ranch on Mt. Hamilton. 
In February 1974 I spent a week in Russia 
where I was invited to deliver a lecture at the 
Lebedev Institute of  High Energy Physics. 
The Lebedev Institute was where the Soviets 
developed nuclear weapons and nuclear 
power. Touchy visit!

 
About the time that I took the AMD job 

my former boss and good friend, Paul Ely, 
was appointed manager of  the Data Systems 
Division which incorporated HP’s computer 
programs. In 1974, Paul was put over all of  
HP’s computer organization and promoted 
to Vice President. Paul then offered me the 
position of  Division Manager of  the Data First Liftable Megabyte Computer from HP. 1974.



Systems Division in Cupertino. DSD was HP’s 
biggest Division by then so it was a promotion 
and offered the opportunity to learn and 
participate in the computer business. I recall 
that the headcount was about 2500. So, l 
moved my office to Cupertino and waded full 
tilt into the world of  computers. I held the 
position from 1974 to 1980. It was a genuinely 
fun time. I had a very good staff and had lots 
of  interaction with our sales people and with 
customers. During my time there the division 
moved from almost break-even to a very 
profitable situation. During the time I was 
at DSD the computer business grew rapidly 
which created the need to create even more 
divisions. 

Bad Accident
In 1979 I traveled through Europe with 

other computer business managers for the 
purpose of  training and supporting the 
European sales team. I took my son, Mike, 
with me. It was right after he graduated from 
high school so it was kind of  a celebration for 
him. We spent a few days in London and then 
went to Val d’Isere, France for some skiing 
with the European sales managers. After 
our stay there Mike flew home. Somehow he 
caught mononucleosis while he was there. He 
later developed a case shingles from it. Maybe 
too much fun in France.

After Mike went home, I flew to Oslo, 
Norway and then traveled by car to a ski 
resort area called Geilo. Again this was an 
opportunity to spend time with our best sales 
people from Northern Europe. While I was 
skiing an out-of-control skier from Sweden 
crashed into me, knocking me unconscious 
and causing bleeding from my head, nose and 
mouth. The ski patrol came and took me off 
the mountain by sled. An ambulance took me 
to the hospital in Honefoss where I spent a 
week in socialized medicine. When I arrived 
at the hospital there was no room for me so I 
had to be treated in a hallway. It turns out that 

I had a skull fracture that was causing swelling 
that gave me bad double vision. I also had 
two broken-off front teeth. Fortunately there 
was a good doctor there that had done some 
neurological training in the United States. He 
also spoke good English. He was able to help 
me get ready to return home as soon as my 
double vision went away.

An interesting thing happened once there 
was a room available for me. I was placed in 
a two-patient room with a Norwegian man a 
few years older than me. His wife would visit 
him every day and bring him some homemade 
treats. When she found that I was there, she 
kindly brought me treats as well. They spoke 
no English and I spoke no Norwegian so 
communication was only by smiles and nods. 
The mystery to me was, why was he there? I 
could see no evidence of  any illness and he 
received no attention from any doctors or 
nurses.

On one of  the days that I was there, a 
manager from our Oslo sales office came to 
visit me. He, of  course, spoke Norwegian as 
well as English so I asked him if  he could 
politely ask my roommate what he was 
hospitalized for. My friend found out that the 
man belonged to a very strong Union that 
entitled him to a medical rehabilitation on 
some regular basis and it was his turn. Just a 
nice, fully-paid rest and relaxation time in the 
local infirmary. But, there was no room for a 
guy with a skull fracture. We sure don’t want 
to end up with a mess like that.

 
In 1980 I made a lateral move to a young, 

interesting division called General Systems 
Division. This division had the charter 
of  building a business in general purpose 
business computers. This division produced 
the HP 3000 Computer System Family. It 
was a popular alternative to the IBM family 
of  ‘Mainframe Computers’. It was actually 
fun to compete with IBM. We felt like David 
dropping the giant Goliath. For me this was 

Counters to Computers   |   83





HP’s First General Purpose 
Business Computer, 

the HP 3000.

Most Powerful HP 3000 
System, circa 1983.
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pretty much a management job. That being 
the case I focused most of  my attention on 
two important management responsibilities: 
1) quality of  our products and services, and 
2) people development, especially people that 
were historically under-represented in the best 
occupations. The division had a headcount of  
about 1500. My other major contribution was 
probably keeping a dedicated team happy and 
making a very good profit.

 
Quality Initiative

In the late seventies the advances in 
semiconductor technology coupled with 
demand for better and more information 
combined to boost demand for faster, cheaper 
and more powerful computers. Gordon 
Moore, a co-founder of  Intel, formulated 
what became known as Moore’s Law which 
observed that the semiconductor chips 
used in computers were advancing in price 
performance by 30% per year. That means 
each year 30% improvement in performance 
was available at the same cost or, conversely, 
the same performance could be achieved 
at 30% lower cost. The computer market 
exploded as computer makers poured out 
faster, cheaper and more useful computers at a 
breakneck pace. Computing functionality was 
also spreading like wildfire. These advances in 
technology were showing up in smarter cars, 
appliances, instruments, medical equipment, 
television sets, telephones, toys, automatic 
bank tellers and even shoes. The market was 
chaotic. Computation-based companies were 
springing up like tulips in spring and then 
dying out just as fast. But, in the chaos of  the 
market dynamics, one important aspect was 
suffering—quality!

In 1980 when I was still general manager 
of  DSD, we were in a very difficult battle to 
produce computers of  acceptable quality. The 
semiconductor microchips were a particular 
problem. Manufacturers like Intel, Motorola 
and Mostek were moving manufacturing of  

chips to many different Asian countries in 
search of  capacity and lower cost. I remember 
one of  our suppliers’ chips were having 
trouble with intermittent failures. In our 
effort to help solve the problem we opened 
several failed chip encapsulations. When we 
did we found that some of  the chip capsules 
had tiny bits of  contact wire rattling around 
inside. From time to time when the computer 
was moved, the wire piece would short out an 
internal contact and cause a miss-function. 
Since we couldn’t open every chip to examine 
for this problem, we were forced to put each 
computer on a shake table to cause the failure 
in our place before we sent the problem to a 
customer. That is no way to run a computer 
factory. I might add that this is only one 
example. Quality needed to be addressed or 
this budding industry would be choked to 
death in the cradle.

We pushed very hard on quality for the 
remainder of  my time at DSD. Our efforts 
were starting to attract some attention in 
the semiconductor trade press. In March, I 
was invited to speak on the subject of  chip 
quality at a seminar held on March 25, 
1980 in Washington, DC. Note from the 
program that the luncheon speaker was 
Illinois Senator Adlai E. Stevenson. He was 
the son of  the Adlai E. Stevenson who ran 
for President of  the United States in 1952 
and 1956. It turned out that my talk was the 
only one that anyone would remember after 
the seminar ended.

The Bombshell 
One of  the seminar attendees was 

Ben Rosen, an electronics industry analyst 
that published a commentary newsletter 
called The Rosen Electronics Letter. Ben 
summarized my presentation, and provided 
comment that would put me at the center 
of  the semiconductor and computer quality 
discussions. Follows photo static copies of   
news articles and the March 31, 1980 issue.
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A sustained drive for 
better quality!

Right: San Jose Mercury
Tuesday, January 13, 1981

Below: San Jose Mercury
October 22, 1980

Previous: San Jose Mercury
January 11, 1981
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Managing a diverse
workforce

The computer division general 
management assignments gave me the 
opportunity to work with many more women 
and minorities. Engineering had traditionally 
been a very white male oriented occupation. 
While I was in the instrument divisions 
there were a few Asian males joining the 
company but a dearth of  Women, Blacks and 
Hispanics. Computers offered opportunity 
for change. The large part played by software 
along with financial, educational and business 
type applications made computer businesses 
much more attractive for job opportunities 

for women and minorities. In my time as 
General Manager of  GSD I put together a 
staff consisting of  three women, one black 
male and two white males.

 
In 1982 I was given the opportunity to take 

the summer off and go through the Stanford 
Executive Program (SEP). It was sort of  a mini 
MBA for very experienced executives. The 
program was intended to train future CEOs. 
Sometime in late 1983 or early 1984 I was 
asked to be the Group General Manager of  
the Microwave and Communications Group. 
That was likely my best fit in the company and 
I accepted without hesitation.
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In late 1983 or early 1984, I accepted the 
position of  Microwave and Communications 
Group (MCG) General Manager. Some of  this 
was a return to my roots and felt very familiar. 
Other parts were new to me and provided the 
opportunity for personal and career growth. 
The annual revenue of  the group was over 
one billion dollars and growing rapidly. These 
were the years of  the Reagan economic 
boom. The two largest divisions were the 
Signal Analysis Division which had grown 
from the original Spectrum Analyzer entry 
and the Network Measurements Division 
from the Network Analyzer. It was gratifying 
to see how much these first two products 
had contributed to the success of  Hewlett 
Packard. These two divisions, together with 
an important technology center, were based 
in Santa Rosa, California. The other divisions 
derived from the former Microwave Division 
were the Spokane Division in Spokane 
Washington and the Stanford Park Division in 
Palo Alto. There was also a metals and plastic 
based fabrication center in Palo Alto. Over 
the years the group had also incorporated 

three additional divisions, the Colorado 
Telecommunications Division in Colorado 
Springs, the Queensferry Telecommunications 
Division in South Queensferry Scotland 
and the Kobe Instrument Division in Kobe, 
Japan. The group headcount peaked at over 
10,000 people. It was a great opportunity 
for me, and in 1986, I was elected a Vice 
President of  the Hewlett Packard Company 
along with my continuing responsibilities 
as General Manager of  the Microwave and 
Communications Group.

The traditional microwave instrument 
business had been driven by military spending 
which peaked in the Reagan years. By 1986 
it was clear that the defense growth driver 
would not continue and we needed to pursue 
opportunities in the rapid growth areas in 
all types of  communications. In the coming 
years we investigated opportunities in cellular 
communications, satellite communications, 
packet switching networks, network television, 
global positioning networks, fiber optic 
communications, surveillance systems, wireless 
interconnection, classical telephony and too 

Back to the Future in 
Microwave & Communications 
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many more to list here. We also took initiatives 
in computer aided design, comprehensive test 
systems and network management.

As we searched for opportunities one 
thing seemed clear, it would take more than 
one new initiative to keep the business healthy 
and growing. We were unlikely to find another 
giant opportunity like Spectrum or Network 
Analyzers. To help our efforts we made a few 
strategic acquisitions. We acquired a protocol 
testing company in Edmonton, Canada; a 
telecom test joint venture in Padua, Italy; a 
microwave computer aided design (CAD) 
company in Northridge, California and 

entered into some joint venture projects in 
China, South Korea and Europe. To build on 
our historic strengths and success, we initiated 
new business directions in:

 
1. Wireless Transceiver (cell phone) Test
2. Fiber Optic Test
3. Microwave Computer Aided Design

 (CAD) Solutions
4. Microwave Test and Measurement

 Systems
5. Integrated Network Test and 

 Management
6. Video System Test and Management

Hewlett Packard Vice President. About 1980.
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Above: From a Newspaper in 
Hong Kong, 1987

Left: Global Marketing!



Over the fourteen years that I was the 
General Manager of  the Microwave and 
Communications Group it was my privilege 
to work with and be supported by some 
very capable and dedicated people. The 
division managers included Bill Wurst, Byron 
Anderson, Duane Hartley, John Shanahan, 
Alan Seely, Rod Carlson, Al Steiner, Doug 
Scribner, Finley McKenzie, Ned Barnholt 
(who became my boss), Jim Olsen, Deborah 
Dunn, Scott Wright, Jim Rundle, Yoh 
Narimatsu and Don Summers. Staff members 
included Gil Reeser, Bob Allen, John Page, 
John Lemley, Marc Saunders, Russ Johnson, 
Chuck Acken and Candy Wehrcamp. I know 
some have slipped my mind after 23 to 37 years, 
so maybe some of  my long time HP associates 
can jog my memory. I want to add here that 
I am forever grateful for the contribution and 
support of  all of  these exceptional people and 
for many others too numerous to list.

Over these wonderful years the group was 
always at the top of  the company’s profitability 
rankings. The group showed reasonable 
growth in spite of  substantial decline in the 

traditional defense-based markets. This came 
from making valuable contributions in exciting 
new areas. Through it all, technological 
advances continued their historical pattern of  
excellence. I feel very honored and privileged 
to have been there. It was Camelot for sure!

During my years at HP I served on 
several external and internal boards including 
Conductus, Wireless Data, Gerber Scientific, 
Microcircuit Technology Inc., Hewlett 
Packard Ltd. (UK), HP India, and The 
Cupertino Chamber of  Conference. Early 
in my career I was active in the Institute of  
Electrical & Electronic Engineers (I served in 
several elected offices).

In August of  1997, I formally retired 
from Hewlett Packard. I was honored by 
several friends and associates from all over HP 
worldwide. I am including some excerpts as 
part of  this history. If  you look through them 
please do it with the understanding that the 
lucky guy was me. I was blessed to work at the 
finest company in the world, founded by the 
two greatest leaders ever and employing the 
greatest work force in history.

Retirement event with HP Chairman Lewis Platt.
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Right: Grandchildren at 
retirement event. 

Left to right: Devlin, Riley, 
Whitney, Tyler, Alexa

Top: A very kind farewell from 
the corporate laboratories.



Dick, when I think of  the times I worked 
under you, no one event brings back more 
memories than the divestiture of  the Palo Alto 
Fabrication Center. I have heard Lew Platt 
speak on two occasions where he specifically 
credited the success of  this complex divestiture 
to the leadership of  the management team. A 
team that was led by your sense of  balance 
for what was fair for our shareholders, our 
customers and our people.

I will never forget sitting in Lew’s staff 
meeting as you reviewed our plan, and having 
Lew ask who the heck ever recommended to 
put ALL PAFC employees on the excess list for 
VSI. If  you remember, we decided to do this 
because we knew we would be announcing the 
plans to shut down PAFC right after the VSI 
announcement in 1992. Based on the way 
Lew asked the question, I though this might 
be one of  those career defining moments, 
but before I could tell Lew that I made 
the recommendation, you jumped in and 
explained why WE made the decision. I really 
appreciated your support in that situation.

The PAFC divestiture is history, but 
the way we approached  it has served as a 
model for most subsequent divestitures in 
HP. Thank you for setting high expectations 
and your unwavering support for achieving 
the right balance between what was right for 
our shareholders, customers and our people. 
Many people call it a class act. I call it the 
result of  working with a class leader.

I wish you health and happiness in your 
retirement. I have certainly learned from your 
example and will apply what I have learned.

                With fondest regards,
Doug Haller

Dear Dick,
I regret that I will be out of  town on the 

day of  your retirement party. I’ll miss seeing 
you and a lot of  old friends and also learning 
of  the fortunes of  MTI.

I clearly remember the day I drove down 
to Cupertino to ask you to leave the glamorous 
world of  computers and remember my 
pleasure when you said yes. You have kept and 
improved one of  HP’s strongest business and 
consistent profit contributors. I also appreciate 
your personal effort in making the microwave 
group an exciting place for many at HP.

I know you’re going to enjoy the next 
career and I hope to see you soon.

             Bill Terry

Selections from Richard’s Retirement Album
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Hi Corny,
Back in the early 70s (1973 I believe), we 

had just moved into Bld 70 on Arques and I 
was coaching the division’s softball team. At 
the division picnic at Little Basin that year I 
had formed two teams for a softball game and 
Dick played with us. Back then the ball field 
was down near the parking lot and there was a 
huge oak tree in dead center field. Most of  the 
out fielders played in front of  the tree because 
no one had ever hit the ball that far. I’ll never 
forget when Dick came to bat and he promptly 
hit the ball OVER the tree. That Monday I 
cam into Dick’s office and asked him if  he 
would like to play on the division’s team in 
the Industrial League in Palo Alto. Of  course 
he politely declined due to time constraints, 
but I always thought he could have been the 
Mickey Mantel of  our league.

Jim Bechtold 

Cooking and serving steaks at a 
company picnic at Little Basin. 1971.

Dick:
When we first met, at an MDS review in 

Santa Rosa in the Summer of  ‘93, I thought 
to myself, “This is a really beautiful setting; 
it’s remarkable that people are getting paid 
for working here.” Now I’m one of  those 
fortunate people. And the beauty of  the 
workplace isn’t confined to its geography. HP-
TMO in Santa Rosa is a technically strong, 
commercially successful organization of  
people who value excellent performance and 
personal responsibility. That description is a 
credit to the organization’s leadership.

Thank you.
For everything.

Hans Mattes

Dick,
Congratulations on your impending 

career change:

HP Spotlight
1. Dick Anderson to retire, Bryon 

Anderson to succeed at MCG
Dick Anderson, HP vice president and 

general manager of  the Microwave and 
Communications Group (MCG), will retire 
in August after 38 years of  service with the 
company. He will be replaced at the helm 
of  MCG by Byron Anderson, currently 
HP vice president and general manager of  
the Communications Test Solutions Group 
(CTSG). Tom White, general manager of  the 
Computer Peripherals Bristol Division (CPD) 
in the United Kingdom, will succeed Byron 
Anderson.

I have enjoyed your help in several TMO 
efforts, including Motorola and Northrop. 
Thanks for everything...

Wishing you and your wife many happy 
times...  

Bill Fritz, FE/TMO



Hello Corny—
I can’t believe so many of  us still work 

for Hewlett-Packard after all these years! 
Guess that says some really good things about 
working for this great company!

I won’t be able to attend the festivities, but 
I do remember an incident with Dick that for 
me was memorable. This happened shortly 
after I joined HP in late 1975, and if  my brain 
hasn’t failed me and I have the person right, 
it involved Dick and a swarm of  bees. (I think 
it was Dick...Dick Love / Dick Anderson???)

I sat in Building 40 (when it still existed!), 
right next to the windows on the west side 
of  the building. One day during the summer 
some bees began to swarm in one of  the 
trees right outside my window. A number 
of  us had watched with interest for a while, 
when all of  a sudden, a wagon pulled up 
and out stepped Dick, all decked out in bee 
paraphernalia from his helmet to his heavy 
duty glove! Since I’ve always had an aversion 
to bees, I was fascinated that anyone I knew 
would be interested in retrieving their busy 
little bodies. What amazed me even more was 
that someone who was a high level manager 
in this international company I had just joined 
would don his “grubbies”, and in front of  
everyone, scoop up this squirming mass of  
bees. I realized then what a people-oriented 
company I had just joined, if  a manager at 
that level was willing to step out and just be a 
human being, enjoying what must have been 
a hobby for him.

So Dick, if  my brain didn’t fail me and it 
was you who scooped up those bees, I think 
you proved to me that day that the core of  HP 
is it’s people, and that I wasn’t working with a 
bunch of  “machines”, but with warm, human 
beings. I hope you have many wonderful plans 
for your retirement and if  you still keep bees, 
may your bees continue to prosper!

Best regards,
Kerry Pottery

Dear Dick:
Let me be one of  the first to congratulate 

you on finishing an outstanding career at 
Hewlett-Packard. I have had the pleasure of  
knowing and working with you for quite a 
number of  years, and I know this retirement 
is well-deserved.

I’m sure there will be a number of  events 
regarding this soon and I look forward to 
attending at least one of  them. I hope you 
and Moon-Yeen enjoy this new “adventure” 
in your lives.

Best personal regards,
George Cobbe

Greetings, Corny:
In response to Ned’s note on Dick’s 

retirement, I offer the following account. It 
may or may not be appropriate—you be the 
judge.

Back in the early seventies when Dick 
was GM for the Automatic Measurements 
Division, the division had a number of  
military contracts. Equal opportunity was 
the ‘Affirmative Action’ of  the times, and we 
were told to expect an EEOC Inspector. All of  
the supervisors were gathered into our large 
conference room for a briefing by Dick.

When asked how we should respond to 
queries from this Inspector, Dick told us, “Be 
frank. Tell it like it is; call a spade a spade.” Of  
course, the room erupted in a gale of  laughter. 
Startled and taken aback, Dick said, “What 
did I say, what did I say?”

I’m sorry that I will miss the big reception 
for Dick, as my daughter and her family 
arrive about then from Pittsburgh, PA. Please 
convey my best wishes. I’m sure he will as busy 
in retirement as he is now (that has been my 
experience the past seven years).

Take care of  yourself—
Bob Knapp
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Hi Corny,
Thanks for inviting contributions of  Dick 

Anderson reminiscences!
I worked in Dick’s organization for only a 

brief  time in my HP career, but, nonetheless, 
he had a very positive impact upon me.

Dick probably recalls the dates better 
than me, but I believe he became F&T R&D 
Engineering Manager sometime in 1968. At 
that time, I had been with HP about two years, 
and I was only 24 years old. I was married and 
a father, but Dick looked and seemed so much 
older and wiser than me. Looking back now, I 
realize he must have been in his early 30’s, but 
he might as well have been a senior citizen, as 
far as I was concerned!

As part of  the DSA group, reporting 
into Skip Ross (through Charlies Trimble), 
I worked down the hill in Building 11, 
while Dick and most of  his team resided in 
building 5M. With my first presentation to 
Dick, just prior to a scheduled B Checkpoint 
meeting for the Correlation Synchronizer 
addition to the 5480A Signal Averager, I 
recommended to Dick that my project be 
cancelled. That was a very scary thing for 
a young engineer to do, but Dick accepted 
the recommendation and gave me positive 
feedback. Dick Anderson Lesson #1: Tell the 
truth and do what is right for the business, 
and all will be well.

Shortly thereafter, Dick decided to bring 
back the DSA R&D team to 5M so that all the 
engineers could work together. Dick Anderson 
Lesson #2: Teamwork is a core value, and it 
works best when the team members are co-
located.

I think we were still in 5M when Dick, 
Skip, and, I think, Jim Doub, invited me to an 
evening meeting at the old Cabana Hotel on 
El Camino Real. Room service dinners were 
ordered, and it quickly became clear to me 
that I would not be allowed to go home until 
I had agreed to their proposal that I become 

the Signal Averager Project Manager (Charlie 
had transferred to the IC Tester program). 
So I decided I had better go along with “the 
program.” Dick Anderson Lesson #3: Drop 
down as far as is necessary (it was three levels 
from Dick to me) and give your personal time 
if  you want to demonstrate your concern for 
employee and business welfare.

It was 1969 or 1970, and Signal 
Averager family sales were lagging. Dick had 
contacts with Microwaves magazine, and he 
volunteered Skip, Jim, and me to co-author 
a microwave application paper with him 
for publication. Dick Anderson Lesson #4: 
Leverage your previous experience for current 
returns.

The last encounter that I recall occurred 
in 1971. At the time, it was a somewhat 
negative happening, but the long-tern 
consequences were very positive. Another 
Project Manager approached me with the 
statement: “I understand you are looking for 
a job.” Actually, I was not, so this statement 
was very upsetting. I talked with Skip, and he 
referred me to Dick. After about 20 minutes 
of  discussion, I asked Dick if  he wanted me 
to try something different. He responded 
affirmatively. With that advice in mind, I 
accepted a project management position in 
Logic Test R&D. Two years later, I moved to 
Personnel, and later transferred to Quality 
and then Manufacturing. While that initial 
job change could have been handled more 
gracefully, Dick successfully implanted in me 
the need to change responsibilities periodically. 
Today we would call that concept “Career 
Self-Reliance.” Dick Anderson Lesson #5: 
Manage your own career before somebody 
else does it for you.

I thank Dick for all the help and guidance 
he gave me, and I wish him the best as he 
enters this next stage in his career.

Best regards,
Chuck Taubman



Providing entertainment at the company 
outing at Marine World.

Dick,
Retirement is just another job change but 

with more flexible time. Congratulations on 
your 38 year career at HP; it certainly must be 
a proud moment for you when you review all 
the accomplishments. The Spectrum Analyzer 
will always be one of  the most memorable 
for me and I can still remember you at the 
bench working on the mixer (2GHz!). It was 
a great product family then and still is today. 
On a personal note, I want to thank you for 
the many times that you were there to support 
me. Our paths did cross quite often and I 
was very fortunate to have worked with you. 
Again, congratulations to you and Moonyeen 
on your retirement. Jane and I wish you both 
the best in the years ahead.

John Shanahan

Dear Dick,
Congratulations on your upcoming 

retirement. It has been a real pleasure to work 
with you on the College’s Advisory Board for 
the past several years. I hope that your “new-
found freedom” will allow you to spend more 
time here in Cache Valley. We really enjoy 
your company.

Dick, I have really appreciated the 
kindness and hospitality you have shown 
to me over the years. You have been a very 
good example of  how people who are busy 
and with demanding schedules can still take 
the time to talk on the phone, have dinner, 
or just visit. Of  course, your support of  our 
College in helping to sponsor or write letters 
of  support for proposals to HP has been 
a great help to me in doing my job. I also 
appreciate your being a reference for me 
when I applied for a new position. I have 
also enjoyed getting to know your family; 
they are great.

Your leadership and style have always 
been a guide to me. It is no wonder you have 
done so well in every aspect of  your work and 
other activities. You have been and are a great 
example.

I have also been impressed with your 
business knowledge and your view of  the 
future. I’ll always remember your speech to 
our engineering students about three years 
ago when you said how much our lives would 
be changing due to the electronic modes of  
interaction that were on the horizon. (Almost 
no one had heard of  the web at that time.) 
Virtually everything you predicted has already 
happened.

It has been great to have you as a friend 
and associate. May I wish the very best to 
you and Moonyeen during the approaching 
years. I hope to see a lot of  both of  you.

Sincerely,
Robert L. Davis
(University of  Utah)
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As Louix XIV with my good friend and boss, 
Paul Ely Grenoble. France 1979.

Dear Dick:
I can’t believe you are really leaving! I’ve 

worked for or with you for 25 years and have 
always respected you. It is a great loss to HP 
to have you retire. You will be sorely missed.

I wish you and your family the very best. 
Please take care and God bless.

Best regards,
Ray Drost 

Dear Dick,
I am sorry to miss your going away party, 

but Lynn and I will be in Scotland on a holiday. 
You and I have worked together for well over 
twenty years, and I look back on my HP days 
now with very fond memories. I know you will 
too. Remember, old cowboys never die, they 
just ride off into the sunset!

Best Wishes,
Gil

Dear Dick,
Congratulations on your retirement. I hope 

you and Mooneen enjoy it as much as Carol 
and I have. I have especially fond memories 
of  the time we worked together at AMD, plus 
all the other times we had interactions. Sorry 
we couldn’t be there for the formal event. I am 
sure it will be a wonderful event. Enjoy!

Sun Valley is on the way to Montana, so 
please come by and visit.  

 Best Personal Regards,
       Ben L. Holmes 

Dear Dick,
Corny called, and she wondered if  I 

would contribute something to the scrapbook 
she’s putting together. Well, I am honored, 
and hope this is not too late to be included in 
the book. But where to begin...

A bus ride to Miramar outside of  San Diego. 
I was doing what passengers not engrossed 
in conversation often do (unintentionally, of  
course); I was hearing bits of  conversation 

from those around me. 
Public Education was 
the discussion of  two 
gentlemen behind me, 
and neither was impressed 
with its current status or 
eventual product. Though 
to hear from anyone, but 
when I found out later 
who the men were, I was 
concerned. It stayed with 
me for the next few weeks, 
so I asked Tim if  I could 
write the gentlemen a 
letter. That poor guy has 
to live with me, knows 
how passionate I am on 
the subject of  quality in 
education, and no doubt 
decided it’d be better 



After a hunting trip in Wyoming 
with another employee. 

by one of  Tina’s professors and how she 
addressed the issue with him. It’s amazing 
how much I’ve learned from our short 
acquaintance.

Our most recent contact was when you 
agreed to write a letter of  recommendation 
for me. You responded to yet another of  my 
requests without hesitation, and I’m confident 
it will result in my future employment. I’m 
glad I was able to spend time getting to know 
you. You’re an honest man with true integrity, 
the finest qualities any man can have, I think.

Enjoy your retirement, Dick. If  you’re 
ever in Phoenix, please look us up. We’d enjoy 
having you and your wife as our dinner guests.

Sincerely,
Peggy Cartier

in the long run, so to heck with any future 
promotions!

You graciously accepted my invitation 
to come to the Tustin School District, truly 
impressive when considering how busy you 
were at the time. After all, we don’t even 
know one another on a professional basis 
let alone a personal one. Dinner was good, 
and I learned about your many business 
trips to Asia, including a side trip to see 
the Cian pottery soldiers in China (my 
Ancient Civs class thought you must be 
incredibly wealthy to have seen something 
depicted in a history text!). You shared a bit 
about your personal life, including Tina’s 
studies toward a degree in education and 
Moonyeen’s prior teaching experience. In 
short, you put me at ease.

We went to a few schools in Tunstin 
and spoke with some of  the administration. 
After talking again at lunch (cold pizza), it 
became clear that we were not as far apart 
in our perceptions about education as I had 
originally suspected. As a fact, we agreed that 
the current system is in need of  revamping, 
and perhaps the most intelligent evolution 
at this time is to approach it as more of  a 
business. I’m glad we were able to spend some 
time together outside the HP arena. I learned 
what the perspective of  education is from a 
businessman’s point of  view, and I remain 
hopeful. The biggest surprise in this whole 
scenario was finding out just exactly where 
you ranked in terms of  management (Yikes! 
I’ve never known anyone so important), and 
the generosity you displayed in personally 
funding the purchase of  the Hewlett-Packard 
Printers for the Tustin Schools.

We ran into one another at this most recent 
Winner’s Circle gathering, and I enjoyed 
visiting with you about recent developments 
in both Tina’s careers and David’s developing 
interest in photography (video and film). I was 
inspired to hear how Moonyeen handled the 
discouraging words about future employment 
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Dear Dick,
After so many years with HP I am sure 

you must have hundreds of  letters wishing you 
“All the BEST”.

I want to thank you for all the conversations 
over the years. You have always been very 
approachable, candid and full of  that rare 
commodity: common sense. In particular I 
appreciated your sense of  the difficulties the 
small countries face when living inside the 
BIG HP machine.

Your efforts to keep the flame going in the 
dark days of  1985-87 sales force 15 was an 
inspiration to me and all of  the troops. I know 
how much courage that took at your level. 
Thank you.

I do not forget that through your 
leadership and contributions my stock in 
HP has educated my children, has given me 
wonderful experiences and will provide Ana 
and I a very comfortable life after HP.

I would not like to lose touch with you 
and your family. Even if  it is only to exchange 
Christmas cards. When the dust settles and 

you all have decided where you’ll live I would 
like to hear from you.

I wish you God Speed! May you always 
have the wind to your back and the face to 
the sun.

Warm person regards,
Bill Woehr
Geneva Switzerland

Greetings Dick,
I just wanted to send you my best wishes 

on your retirement. From my personal 
experience (over 7 years) I know that you will 
enjoy it and be even more busy than you are 
now. There isn’t enough time to do everything! 
So do what YOU want to do and the rest will 
take care of  itself.

Best regards,
Bob Knapp

Dick, Byron:
Congratulations to 

both of  you on your 
respective moves: Dick, 
it’s been great to work 
with you through my days 
in SPD and VID, and I 
hope you have a great 
time in your retirement. 
38 years... Wow!

And Byron, best 
wishes as you move in 
to the MCG slot, and 
I’m sure you’ll be able to 
provide the same great 
leadership for growth that 
you’ve brought to CTSG.
            Best Regards,
            Dana KreitterLeader of  HP Posse! Work should be fun!



Managing on Horseback! 
Round em up, Move em out!
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Hi Dick,
As I read the announcement about your 

retireing, I had to send you a note. You had 
indeed had a very distinguished career at 
HP, and I am among the very many that 
greatly appreciate not only what you have 
accomplished, but also the manner in which 
you did it.

I haven’t heard yet whether or not you 
have any specific plans for “life after HP”. 
Our mutual associates tell me that: 

- it really exists!
- the first Monday after retirement is the 

worst day.
- the greatest danger is that you will be too 

busy.
- you will wonder how you ever had time 

to work!
Whatever you do, I hope that the future is 

full of  pleasant and fulfilling days for you and 
Moonyeen.

Best Regards,
Bill Kay 

Please read this at the party:
Dick, please accept our sincerest thanks 

for your active support, encouragement 
and advice over the years. Your keen eye for 
detail, always on the prowl for opportunities, 
identified our need for microwave CAE focus 
a number of  years ago – which subsequently 
has yielded much fruit. Your close questioning 
during Business Reviews always kept one alert 
and hence well prepared.

All of  us in Canada again say a big thank 
you for your very direct involvement in the 
Purchase of  Idacom, bringing a greater 
HP presence in our country which has 
provided jobs, excellent products and clearly 
demonstrates the Canadian Government HP’s 
commitment to Canada. This has resulted in 
HP attaining favoured supplier status.

As a token of  our thanks and to recognize 
the many outstanding contributions you have 
made to Hewlett-Packard’s success over your 
37 years please accept this book on Canada 
and we also bestow upon you the position of  
Honorary Canadian Field Engineer. (P.S. if  
you’re looking for a part time job I’m sure we 
can carve out a territory for you with lots and 
lots of  quota!!)

Dick on behalf  of  everyone in TMO 
Canada we wish you and Moonyeen many 
many healthy and happy retirement years.

From all your friends in the Great White 
North,

        Alan Holdway

Hi Dick,
I am unable to stop by tomorrow afternoon 

but wanted to wish you well as you retire 
from HP. TMO has benefitted immensely 
from your visions on the future capabilities 
of  technology. Your departure will leave a big 
void.

Best wishes in your new endeavors.
        Becky Porter

Rare time at the desk, circa 1990.



“he had no territorial interests past Poland.”
Dick was a great boss; we had lots of  

business successes and fun at AMD. The 
computer business was new, we were all 
kids, and had a great time. Many of  the 
remembrances of  those times are better left 
remembrances.

Probably my fondest personal 
remembrance of  Dick involves Carol. Carol 
was offered the Microwave Marcom job while 
we were dating. After Carol took the job, Dick 
noticed I was hanging out around his group 
headquarters a lot. Since MPG had little to 
do with Microwave, he thought it somewhat 
peculiar. He told me later he had guessed our 
relationship, but had the sensitivity to keep it 
to himself. However, when Carol told Dick we 
were getting married and moving east, Dick 
warned Carol that I was a rather stubborn 
individual. Carol reported the conversation to 
me. The next time I saw Dick, I mentioned 
it to him, and stated, “That really is the pot 
calling the kettle black.”

Sincerely,
Ben L. Holmes

Forbidden City, Beiing, China. Circa 1990.

Hi Dick,
I first want to thank you for hiring me 

into the F&T Division in 1969, and providing 
me some good coaching, support and advice 
several different times during my first years at 
HP.

I hope that you will enjoy this new phase 
of  your life that you are beginning.

Sincerely,
John Stedman 

Dear Corny,
Unfortunately, neither Carol nor I will be 

able to be in California for Dick’s retirement. 
Please wish him and Moonyeen all the best 
from us. 

As far as memorable events, there were 
many, here are just a few:

Dick’s greatest fear: having to sign Joe 
Schoendorf  or Bob Brannon’s expense report.

After one trip to Europe, Dick asked Joe 
how he could have spent as much money as 
he had. Joe replied, “Only if  
you have small breakfasts, and 
order wine with every other 
lunch.”

My best memory of  a Dick 
and Joe’s interaction is from a 
dinner we had an AMD for 
the then sales force 5. The 
new computer systems and 
organization had been formed 
but not announced, rumors 
were flying, but only a very few 
of  us knew what ould happen. 
Paul invited himself  to the 
dinner, and asked to speak to 
the AMD folks and to sales 
force 5. Joe was the host and 
was asked to introduce Paul 
as the Data Systems General 
Manager who assured him... 
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Corny,
Sorry to be so late in responding, but I 

was trying to rearrange some schedules and 
wasn’t able to work out attending. I do have 
the following story regarding the “miracles” 
of  Dick Anderson.

Dick was good at customer calls and 
helping us close business. He visited Dr. Q. 
Balzano, a VP of  Engineering and assured 
him that our uW CAE offering was the best 
in the business. We received several orders for 
the software along with the new “Risc” work 
stations from the Computer Group. 

When Motorola couldn’t get delivery, 
we had him visit with Walt Davis, a VP 
responsible for the IC development group and 
ultimate responsibility for the “Risc” decision. 
Walt needed to have Hewlett Packard new 
RISC architecture “spectrum” computers for 
his engineering group delivered in a HURRY.

Dick was able to get him the first two 
commercialized units before anybody from 

the Computer organization could do it. 
That convinced me that Dick could do two 
“miracles” per year.

My only question was, “Why didn’t Dick 
move up the ladder in the Computer Group 
with power like this?” Maybe the answer will 
come out of  someone else’s war story. You will 
have to solve the mystery for me. I am really 
sorry I won’t be able to attend.

Thank you for thinking of  me.
Regards,
Bill Lovelace

Dick’s association with Queensferry goes 
back a long way, back to the late sixties when 
Dick visited what was literally a green-field 
Queensferry site, on one leg of  the 8410 
Network Analyzer European introduction 
tour. Over the years, Dick’s become a ‘weel 
kent’ face in Scotland, working first with the 
original Telecom Division, before going on to 
make one of  his canniest and most successful 
HP investments with the start up of  QMO in 
1984.

As QMO Founding Father, Dick nurtured 
the fledgling operation through the tricky 
early years when so many start-ups founder. 
Dick has been a steadfast sponsor—even in 
years when business conditions were tough.

In 1992 Dick elevated QMD to Division 
status and laid the groundwork for five years 
of  greater than 30% annualised growth rate. 

Dick has always enjoyed a special 
relationship with QMD. Dick’s bold vision for 
the Division succeeded beyond what any of  us 
had dreamed of.

Dick, from all at QMD, our warm 
appreciation for your special contribution 
to our success and our best wishes on your 
retirement.

Haste ye back - 
from Bill Savage and the QMD Team

With longtime, wonderful secretary, Corny Sluis.



In 1999 Lew Platt retired as Chairman 
and CEO of  Hewlett Packard and the 
Board hired Carly Fiorina as it’s new CEO. 
It became immediately obvious that the 
company would never be the same. In early 
2000 Ms. Fiorina invited many retired HP 
executives to a meeting in the Cupertino 
Auditorium. I took the opportunity to join 
the meeting. After the meeting concluded I 
took the opportunity to have a several minute 
discussion with Carly. 

When I got home I decided to call Dick 
Hackborn at his home in Boise. Dick and I 
had worked together over many years, first 

on Automatic Network Analyzers and then in 
the Computer Operations. After exchange of  
pleasantries and a few laughs from old times, 
I told Dick where I had been and why I was 
calling. My message was four words: DON’T 
WAIT TOO LONG! I then explained that 
Carly was not a fit for the HP CEO job. Sooner 
or later she would have to be let go. Again, 
DON’T WAIT TOO LONG! My observation 
from the meeting was that her values were 
orthogonal to HP values. Orthogonal values 
will never get to satisfactory results. Sadly the 
HP Board waited too long. Momentum lost is 
impossible to retain.

My Return Visit to HP in 2000

Back to the Future in Microwave and Communications   |   113



114   |  Together Forever—Richard and Mooyneen Anderson

Richard and Moonyeen at President’s Club dinners through the years.
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Two Significant Technical Papers

During my career as an engineer and manager I had the opportunity to work with some 
very interesting and important technologies. Some that I will mention include digital computers, 
integrated circuits, computer software, computer networks, fiber optics, automatic test and 
measurement, linear and digital circuits, signal analyzers, microwave devices and computer 
aided design. Over the years I wrote or presented papers or reports on most of  these and 
many others. I am presenting here two of  the most significant technologies that I was involved 
with. In 1966/1967 I authored and coauthored these papers presenting the world’s first really 
capable microwave network analyzer and a companion paper on how to effectively utilize 
network analyzer measurements to design wireless devices and systems. These capabilities truly 
revolutionized the wireless world.

Without this first network analyzer and others that followed it is very unlikely that there 
would have been such remarkable innovations such as global position satellite systems (GPS), 
stealth aircraft, fast radar, sophisticated cellular networks and powerful smart phones. And, fifth 
generation networks (5G) with such things as self-driving cars would just be a pipe dream. It is 
with profound satisfaction that I present these two 1967 papers so that you, my descendants, 
can know what your grandfather spent some of  his time thinking about. After all, you are the 
ones for whom this project was undertaken.

Richard Watkins Anderson
April 15, 2021
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